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— good —_ruins X _ altered —_ moved date
2 fair —___ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

DESCRIPTION SUMMARY

The Mount Savage Historic District comprises 189 buildings, structures,
and sites in the town of Mount Savage, a 19th and 20th century industrial
community located approximately seven miles northwest of Cumberland in Allegany
County in the mountainous region of Western Maryland. The resources within
the District reflect the community's development as a center of the ironm, coal,
brick, and railroad industries from the 1830's to the early 20th century. A
broad variety of domestic, commercial, religious and industrial buildings and
structures represent all phases of the town's development during this period.
Main Street (Md. Route 36) runs through the District in an east-west direction,
and contains the town's commercial center comsisting primarily of two and three
story commercial buildings dating from the turn of the 20th century. Most are
of frame construction, but some are built with glazed brick, an architectural
novelty produced in a local brick works. A rich collection of domestic archi-
tecture is concentrated to the north, east, and southwest of the commercial
area; most of the houses are 1% or 2 story frame buildings, simplified inter-
pretations of popular turn-of-the-twentieth-century styles, such as the
Bungaloid-influenced houses which line New Row and Foundry Row. Late 19th
century fashions are represented by notable frame Gothic houses on the east
end of Main Street, an Eastlake-influenced brick example on Water Street, and
a group of large frame Queen Anne houses above Zig Zag Street. Several
vertical-board duplexes, representative of the earliest type of workers'
housing in the area, occur on 0ld Row, overlooking the former site of the
Maryland and New York Iron and Coal Company operations, established in Mount
Savage in 1839. This site is currently occupied by the Mount Savage Refractories
brick works, the present descendant of the fire-brick industry which has operated
continuously in town since the mid-19th century. Other notable industrial
resources include the late 19th century offices, repair shops, and associated
structures of the Cumberland and Pennsylvania Railroad at the southwestern

edge of the District. Of the 189 resources within the District, 95% (180) contribute

to its significance.
GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The Mount Savage Historic District encompasses a concentration of 189
resources related to the industrial history of the town of Mount
Savage, located approximately seven miles northwest of Cumberland in Allegany
County, Maryland. Jennings Run, a branch of Wills Creek which flows into the
Potomac River, runs in an easterly direction through the town; Main Street,
which nearly parallels the run, contains the town's commercial center. On
the west side of town, at the confluence of Jennings Run with its northern
branch, Sulphur Run, an iron furnace was developed in 1839; subsequent
industries including a coal mining company, brickyard, and railroad facilities
occupy the site of the former furnace and extend to the southwest. As the
town grew, residential development became concentrated on the hillsides to the
east and north of the industrial center. The present character of Mt. Savage
reflects its late 19th-early 20tH century association with the coal, brick
and railroad industries.

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #1
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION (Continued)

The oldest structures remaining in the town, workers' housing constructed
for the iron industry in the mid-19th century, are located on the east side of
0ld Row road. These are two-story frame duplexes, resting on full stone base-
ments, built into the hillside. Their board-and-batten exterior (lately covered
with asphalt '"brick") reflects the vertical-plank construction which typifies
company-owned housing in industrial towns of the period in Western Maryland.
Each unit has a door and window at ground level, sheltered by a shed-roofed
porch, and a single window lighting each of the two upper stories. Sash is
generally 6/6. An entrance in each gable gives access to the building from
the rear bank level. Both units share a central chimney. A group of three
of these houses survives at the southern end of 0ld Row; another house is

. located at the north end of the road. The latter building has been restored
for use as a local historical museum.

From their elevation above the north branch of Jennings Run, the 01d Row
duplexes face west over the site of the original Maryland and New York Iron and
Coal Company iron furnace complex and the storage area for the Mount Savage
Refractories fire-brick yard. Two large stone and brick vaults, in ruinous
condition are located at the northwest corner of the Refractories property;
their function is unknown. South of these
structures are the storage areas, shipping depot, and frame sheds of the Mount
Savage Refractories brickyard; to the southwest, on the opposite side of Main
Street, stand the brick factory and several kilns, probably of early 20th
century date.

Among the most important products of local clay works was glazed "enamel"
brick, an early-20th~century architectural novelty. Several buildings in
Mount Savage employ this material in their construction and embellishment.
South of the brickyard is a large, two-story building which originally housed
the offices of the Cumberland and Pennsylvania Railroad repair shops, constructed
of multicolored glazed brick. The building's design shows Romanesque Revival
influence in the definition of its five bays, each of which holds a pair of
windows on both stories between pilasters topped by a corbeled semicircular
arch. On the first floor, the windows are rectangular, 4/1 sash, surmounted by
a transom and a rusticated jack arch of glazed brick. Second-story windows are
round-headed, 1/1 sash. A cornice enriched by paneled, corbeled, and dentillated
brickwork defines the flat roofline. The three-bay side elevation is detailed
similarly, except that the windows are single rather than paired.

Adjacent to the office building are two long rectangular one-story stone
structures, formerly the machine and carpenter shops of the Cumberland and
Pennsylvania Railroad. Glazed brick was also used in the construction of the
power house, o0il house, and blacksmith shop, which are located to the west of
the office building and repair shops. South of the shops, across the tracks,

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #2
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is a "T" plan, one story glazed brick building which formerly served as the
office for the Union Mining Company. Well-preserved early 20th century workers'
dwellings, primarily 1) story frame duplexes, line Foundry Row which extends to
the southwest of this building.

The commercial center of Mt. Savage is concentrated along Main Street, in
an area of roughly two blocks between the Mt. Savage Refractories brickyard on
the west and Columbia Avenue on the east. The Commercial area contains some 30
structures, including a theater, jail, bank, post office, general store, and
several vacant storefronts. Several residences are interspersed. Most of the
buildings front directly on the pavement; a few have a narrow segment of side-
walk or a small porch in front. The commercial buildings are primarily of
frame construction, one or two stories high, with shed roofs. Many retain
bracketed cornices. Most have been altered by the application of asbestos
shingles or asphalt "brick'" siding.

At the west end of the commercial area the Majestic Theater stands on the
north side of Main Street, a long rectangular frame structure clad in asbestos
shingles. It is four bays wide, with the main entrance in the left (westernmost)
bay sheltered by a broad pent roof; double~door exits under gabled hoods define
the three remaining bays. The section which holds the entrance has a window on
the second story, and is capped with a shallow hipped roof; the rest of the
building has a lower, gabled roof of somewhat steeper pitch, covered with tin.

Opposite the Theater stands the Mt. Savage Jail, a one-story brick building
constructed in 1912. The jail features a decorative corbeled brick cornice. Its
principal (north) facade has two 1/1 windows and a paneled door; the interior
accommodates two cells with steel-strap doors, and an office. The building
currently functions as a local museum.

Adjacent to the jail is Beall's Exxon station, whose original ca. 1920
section with a hipped roof and decorative ridge cresting remains intact and
clearly expressed despite low additions to the building's sides.

Further east, Main Street crosses the north branch of Jennings Run on a
concrete bridge. Graham's Confectionery stands on a high stone foundation on
the north bank of the Run, a two-story, gable-roofed frame building whose two-
bay~wide gable facade faces south to Main Street. The building has an early-
20th century storefront with a corner entrance on the first floor, with two 1/1
windows above it; the cornice has short returns with decorative brackets. The
building stretches four bays deep along 01d Row.

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #3
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Across 01d Row from the Confectionery is a large 2% story frame house, the
former Post Office and Telephone Exchange building. The building rests on a
high basement. Its three-bay-wide gable facade faces south on Main Street; the
(west) 01d Row facade is also three bays wide, and has a cross gable. Both
facades are spanned by one-story porches.

Along Main Street east of 0ld Row is a cluster of commercial buildings. Most
of these are simple shed-roofed frame structures, either one story high to
accommodate a single enterprise or two stories, with a storefront on the first
floor and living quarters above. Ornament is generally limited to a bracketed
cornice at the roofline; sometimes the storefront is similarly treated as well.

Several of the buildings along Main Street are constructed of brick and
stand in marked contrast to their modest frame neighbors.

On the south side of Main Street just east of the bridge, a large brick
building rests on steel girders straddling Jennings Run. Its four-bay-wide
facade, of locally produced glazed brick laid in common bond, has a side :.
entrance and storefront on the first floor, with four evenly spaced windows in
segmental arches on the second story. A bracketed cornice surmounts the facade.
The shed-roofed building is six bays deep, with the side walls laid in unglazed
red brick.

Further east, on the opposite side of Main Street, the two-story P. A.
Fannon Variety Store (now Bill's Market) is one of the most elaborate commercial
buildings in town. Its three-bay enamel-brick facade has a storefront on the
first floor, with two bay windows flanking a balcony on the second story.

Above a course of molded and patterned enamel bricks, the building is topped
with a false front holding a broad panel for a sign. The building's corners
are expressed as enamel-brick pilasters; similar pilasters appear on the side
elevation, where windows rest in segmental arches framed with enamel bricks.

On the southeast corner of Main Street and Columbia Avenue, the former
Mullaney Brothers Store also displays the products of the local enamel-brick
yard in its west (front) and north facades. The gable-front building is 2%
stories high and five bays wide, with a double storefront on the first story.
The second story has a double 1/1 window in the central bay, flanked on either
side by two 1/l windows; all windows have transoms and are set in segmental
arches. Triple, round-arched windows light the framed gable. As on the Fannon
Variety Store, the corners of the building are expressed as pilasters; similar
pilasters flank the central bay of the front second story, and define the end
bays of the six~bay north (side) elevation. The building is a testimonial to
the local brickmaker's craft. Its facades are primarily constructed of enamel

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #4
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brick in various warm yellow shades, with bands of purple-brown brick at the
levels of the basement, first floor window heads, second-floor window sills,

and cornice. Egg-and-dart moulded brick tops the pilasters, which are themselves
laid in round-ended moulded brick.

The only other brick building among Main Street's commercial structures is
the First National Bank of Mt. Savage, on the north side of the street just east
of the Variety Store. Constructed in 1904 of red brick on a stone basement,
the bank exhibits Georgian Revival influence in its white keystoned flat arches
and tripartite window. The building is especially noteworthy in that its
interior has remained almost entirely unaltered, and retains all its original
paneling, machine~carved ornament, beveled-glass teller's cages, and wall desks
supported on carved scrolled brackets. The vault is constructed of locally-
manufactured white glazed brick.

East of the commercial area, between Columbia Avenue and the district
boundary at Jennings Run, Main Street is lined with houses varying in date from
the mid 19th through early 20th centuries. On the north side of the street, the
Monahan two-story stone house conveys its association with the mid-19th
century development of Mt. Savage despite later alterations; to its east are
three two-story frame houses of the Victorian era. Among the latter, the McMullen
house is particularly noteworthy for its wealth of original exterior finish and
ornament including German siding, machine-carved window and door surrounds,
wraparound porch with chamfered posts, three-sided projecting bay, deep bracketed
cornice, and cross gable with ornate stickwork. On the south side of the street
are several early 20th century houses of various materials including brick,
stone, and frame, whose design shows the influence of popular turn-~of-the-
century architectural fashions.

Water Street, which parallels Main Street to the south in this area, is
similarly characterized by late 19th and early 20th century dwellings; most
notable is the Ewald house, a 2% story brick building five bays wide and four
bays deep which shows Eastlake influence in the elaborate molded cornices
above its segmental-arched windows. Other houses on Water Street are simple
vernacular structures of frame or brick.

The residential area of town is concentrated on the steep hillside to the
north of Main Street. Houses in this area - lining New Row, Upper New Row, and
Church Hill Road are primarily of frame construction, 1% to 2% stories high,
and represent modest interpretations of various popular late 19th and early 20th
century architectural styles. House types in the area include 2% story I-
houses, three bays wide by one room deep; gable fronted dwellings, two or three

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #5
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bays wide, 2 or 2% stories tall; hip - or pyramid-roofed "Foursquare'" houses;

and 1% story Bungaloid-influenced dwellings with integral porches under broad
overhanging eaves. Most of these buildings retain the majority of their original
exterior finish and detailing, including German siding, porches with turned or
jigsawn balustrades and bracketed posts or heavy Colonial Revival columms.

East of New Row, in the area of Zig Zag Street, several large frame
dwellings reflect Queen Anne influence in their multiple projecting bays and
dormers, wraparound porches, and tall hip-roofed forms.

Three churches are located in this area. St. Patrick's is a stone Gothic
building constructed about 1862 on the south side of Church Street; a two-
story brick parish school was built adjacent to the church in 1900. West of
St. Patrick's on the opposite side of Church Street stands the Methodist
Church; a Gothic-influenced frame building erected in 1901, it has recently
been sheathed in brick veneer. St. George's Episcopal Church was built of
local glazed brick in 1903 on the hill above the other churches; it is a
cruciform Gothic structure with an oversized crenelated tower marking the
crossing. The bell tower which is connected by a covered passage to the west
gable entrance was erected in 1952.

At the intersection of Maryland Route 36 and Jealous Row at the western
edge of the District stands a large stone Gothic-influenced dwelling known
locally as '"The Castle." Completed late in the 19th century by the owner of the
enamel brick works, the house displays glazed brick trim in its chimneys and
porches. The mansard roof is interrupted by tall dormers which extend from the
facade through the overhanging eaves. A one-story porch, of stone with wide
Gothic arches, spans the principal facade; each side elevation has a projecting
bay window. A stone wall surrounds the property, and a stone gatehouse/garage
in the same style as the house marks the entrance to the grounds, which were
originally extensively landscaped.
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Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
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— 1700-1799 ____ art —_engineering —__ music humanitarian
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X 1900- —___ communications X__ industry — politics/government X transportation
____invention — other (specify)

Specific dates ¢. 1830-c. 1930 Builder/Architect unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph) Applicable Criteria: A and C

SIGNIFICANCE SUMMARY

The Mount Savage Historic District is significant for its association with
the industrial development of the Western Maryland region, and for its rich
architectural resources representing a wide variety of types and styles of
domestic, commercial, religious, and industrial buildings and structures
reflecting all phases of the community's development from the mid-nineteenth
century through the early decades of the twentieth. Following the discovery
of abundant deposits of coal, iron ore, and clay for the manufacture of fire
brick in the vicinity in the 1830's, facilities were established to develop
these interrelated industries, and the community expanded rapidly. The foundry
at Mount Savage is credited with producing the first heavy rail rolled in the
United States in 1844. The iron industry declined after 1846 and finally closed
in 1868; during this period, and for years to come, coal provided the mainstay
of the town's economy. The rail link between Mount Savage and Cumberland
which had been constructed in 1844 to convey the town's industrial products to
distant markets via the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad, was made part of the
Cumberland and Pennsylvania Railroad system in 1853. The C & P located its
machine and repair shops in Mount Savage, and constructed and repaired
rolling stock there through the beginning of the 20th century. The
fire brick works - originally established to produce lining for the early
blast furnaces - continues to operate in the present day. An important off-
shoot of this industry was the manufacture of glazed brick, an early 20th
century architectural novelty which graces many local buildings. Mount Savage
is distinguished from other industrial-based communities in the Western Maryland
region by the multiplicity of the enterprises which were pursued there, as well
as by its good overall state of preservation. Its present appearance approxi-
mates its character at the turn of the twentieth century. The vertical-board
duplexes on 0ld Row are especially noteworthy as possibly the earliest examples
of workers' housing remaining in the region.

HISTORY AND SUPPORT

The industrial town traces its origins to Archibald Arnold, the first
settler, who arrived in the 1780's. Several farming families followed his
example and an agricultural community evolved centered around Arnold's Hotel
and a Roman Catholic Church. However, the natural resources dictated a dif-
ferent future for the area. The iron, coal, and fire clay deposits coupled
with the proximity of transportation routes encouraged English investors to
establish an iron manufactury at Mount Savage. (The juxtapcsition of these
resources was especially advantageous since the iron furnaces used coal for
fuel and required fire brick to line them.)

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #6
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HISTORY AND SUPPORT (Continued)

This organization, the Maryland and New York Iron and Coal Company,
received its charter in 1837. It constructed and operated an iron foundry
fueled by coal from its mines, and also established the Mount Savage Railroad
to transport its products to market. The rolling mill reputedly produced the
first solid iron track rolled in America in 1844. This track was first used
for the Mount Savage Railroad on its nine mile route to Cumberland. The
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad then carried the company's products to Baltimore
where direct rail connections existed to the harbor.

By 1842 the Maryland and New York Iron and Coal Company owned 5000 acres in
Mount Savage and the present town had begun to take form. A capital outlay
of $600,000 financed structures for the manufacture of iron including the
rolling mill, two blast furnaces, a foundry, as well as the Mount Savage
Railroad, twenty-two dwellings (most probably "01d Row'"), a store, a school,
and the superintendent's residence. Within two years - at the same time the
first track was rolled - two hundred houses existed and the company employed
five hundred people.

By 1845 with a capital investment of $1,000,000, iron production reached
two hundred tons a week. The company was at that time the only firm in America
extensively engaged in the manufacturing of heavy railroad iron. The intense
heat of the furnaces demanded one hundred fifty tons of coal a day. The mines
fulfilled that demand in addition to shipping an equal amount east for sale.

From its propitious beginnings, the Maryland and New York Iron and Coal
Company declined rapidly in 1846. Internal financial difficulties, a disadvan-
tageous tariff, declining quantity and quality of iron and the threat of labor
troubles combined to close operations. The closure attracted national attention
when the Whig party used the incident to decry Democratic economic policies
during the election of 1846. A year later John M. Forbes, a prominent Boston
railroad financier, bought the entire assets at auction. The iron works
resumed production briefly from the mid-1850's to 1868. The industry even-
‘twally disappeared because of the poor quality of iron and the tariff laws which
made English rail cheaper than American. The historic but idle rolling mill
had vanished by the early 1880's. The Mount Savage Refractories brick yard now
occupies its site.

As iron manufacturing declined the coal mining industry expanded. Indeed,
the present character of the town relates most directly to the phase of its
development which was engendered by the expansion of the coal industry in
the late 19th and early 20th centuries. In 1864 a conglomerate, the Consoli-
dation Coal Company, bought the Mount Savage operations. It owned most of the
mines in the region which explains how it became the largest producer of
bituminous coal in the United States and Maryland became one of the nation's
major coal producers.

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #7
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By as early as the 1840's the emerging town echoed the English mining
estates where the company controlled the factories, housing, and commercial
structures. However, the standard of living in Mount Savage was considerably
better than that of the Marylanders' counterparts in Great Britain and Pennsyl-
vania, as Katherine Harvey documents in The Best Dressed Miners, Throughout
most of the nineteenth century workers rented company housing for only 2% of
their salary. The salaries of the employees, especially with the additional
income from one child, enabled families to purchase their houses. It was not
uncommon for families to visit relatives in Europe. Mount Savage had several
churches and after 1856 a public reading room. Opportunities existed for
children to seek careers outside the community. The most famous son of Mount
Savage was Edward Cardinal Mooney born on 0ld Row.

While its predominant character is that of a late 19th-early 20th century
coal mining town, other industries were important to the development of Mount
Savage during that period, and left their own still-perceptible marks on the
town.

The brickmaking industry in Mount Savage began with the discovery in 1837
of the seam of fine quality fire clay on Savage Mountain, 2% miles west of the
town. After some experimentation, a fire brick was produced of suitable quality
for lining the Iron Company's furnaces. The Union Mining Company was opened
in 1841 to produce fire bricks; fire bricks have been produced in Mount Savage
continuously since then, at present by the Mount Savage Refractories. An
important localized development of the fire brick industry was the manufacture
of enameled brick, fire bricks which are glazed on one face. When the enamel
brick works was established at Mount Savage by Andrew Ramsay in 1896, it was one
of very few such operations in the United States. Its products were shipped
as far as Buffalo, Boston, New York City, and Washington, D. C., in addition
to enhancing numerous houses and commercial buildings in Mount Savage and
nearby Frostburg. Production of enamel bricks ceased upon Ramsay's death in the
1920°'s.

Mount Savage was an important center of the railroad industry in
Western Maryland through the early 20th century. The charter of the Maryland
and New York Iron and Coal Company authorized the Company to construct a
railroad to Cumberland; this nine-mile track was completed in 1845 and connected
Mount Savage to markets in Baltimore and beyond by way of the Baltimore and
Ohio Railroad, which had reached Cumberland three years earlier. In 1853, the
Iron Company transferred its railroad interests to the newly-incorporated
Cumberland and Pennsylvania Railroad Company, which located its repair and
maintenance shops in Mount Savage. These shops, located in the southwestern
section of the present Historic District, produced numerous locomotives and

SEE CONTINUATION SHEET #8
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other rolling stock. Along with this material output, the shops contributed
to the development of the railroad industry by providing training for hundreds
of skilled tradesmen, many of whom emigrated from Mt. Savage to man newly-
established shops in Pennsylwvania and Ohio.

Numerous structures associated with the C & P Railroad remain in the yard
area, between Foundry Row and Jennings Run. These include the enamel-brick
office buildings, several large brick and stone train shops, and a variety of
smaller functional buildings of brick or frame. The C & P Depot (demolished)
was located just southeast of the shops, outside the present Historic District.
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BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundaries of the Mount Savage Historic District encompass the
highest concentration of significant resources which meet National Register
criteria and retain integrity of form,materials, construction, feeling, and
association. Jennings Run creates a natural boundary on the east; steeply
rising topography helps to define the district boundaries on the north, west,
and south/southeast. The residential area west of the district is excluded
because it is both topographically separated and characterized by an over-
whelming degree of incompatible recent alterationms.
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LEGEND

— — — ———— indicates district boundary

<::>€> indicates photograph number and direction of view. For

clarity, not all photographs are referenced on the map.
Refer to photo labels for specific locations.

indicates building or structure; this symbol is not intended

to accurately represent building configuration. Building
locations are approximate, but generally accurate. Numbers
1-189 were arbitrarily assigned for survey purposes and are

not referenced in text or photographs. Numbers in parentheses

refer to MHT State Inventory of Historic Sites.

Resource Coding System:

A.

G.

A resource important to the significance of the district which
appears to be eligible for National Register listing individually.,

A resource with undiminished integrity that contributes to the
significance of the district but does not appear to be eligible
for National Register listing individually.

A contributing resource whose integrity has been compromised,
whose contribution to the significance of the district would be
enhanced by sympathetic rehabilitation or restoration, or by
research supporting its historical associations.

A resource that does not contribute to the significance of the
district but may be eligible for listing in the National Register
within its own historical and cultural context.

A resource that does not contribute to the significance of the
district and is not eligible for listing in the National Register.

An open-space resource that contributes to the significance of
the district.

A non-historic open space that does not contribute to the signifi-
cance of the district.
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